FILED 06-26-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURTOFAPPEALS

#### **DISTRICT IV**

Case No. 2023AP458-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DUSTIN J. VANDERGALIEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR VARIOUS RELIEF WITHOUT A HEARING IN DODGE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT WITH THE HONORABLE MARTIN DE VRIES PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

\_\_\_\_\_

MARK D. RICHARDS State Bar No. 1006324 NATALIE L. WISCO State Bar No. 1101661

RICHARDS & ASSOCIATES, S.C. 209 Eighth Street
Racine, WI 53403
262-632-2200 (P)
262-632-3888 (F)
mdr@richardslawracine.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
Whether the operating with a detectable amount of restricted controlled substance in blood statute is constitutional when the only relevant foreign substance in the blood is conclusively inactive and non-impairing?
Whether VanderGalien met the threshold factual showing to merit an evidentiary hearing as to his prosecutorial conflict of interest claim?
Whether VanderGalien met the threshold factual showing to merit an evidentiary hearing on his motion for post-sentencing plea withdrawal based upon ineffective assistance of counsel?
Whether VanderGalien met the threshold factual showing to merit an evidentiary hearing on his claim that his pleas were not entered knowingly, intentionally, and voluntarily?
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ARGUMENT
I. INCLUDING BENZOYLECGONINE IN THE DEFINITION OF 'RESTRICTED CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE' FOR THE PURPOSES OF PROSECUTION UNDER THE WISCONSIN VEHICLE CODE HAS NO RATIONAL BASIS UNDER THE LAW AND IS THEREFORE

	NOT RATIONALLY RELATED TO THE LEGISLATIVE INTEREST OF COMBATING DRUGGED DRIVING
	A. Governing legal principles and standard of review
	B. The definition of "restricted controlled substance"
	1. Wis. Stat. § 340.01(50m)11
	2. Benzoylecgonine12
	C. The post-conviction decision
	D. State v. Luedtke
	E. VanderGalien presents a different constitutional question from that considered in <i>Luedtke</i> , and the post-conviction court erred by failing to conduct a full review of the claim
II.	VANDERGALIEN MADE A SUFFICIENT FACTUAL SHOWING TO MERIT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS PROSECUTORIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST CLAIM AND THE POST-CONVICTION COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO CONSIDER HIS CLAIM UNDER THE PROPER LEGAL FRAMEWORK16
	A. General legal principles and standard of review17
	B. Prosecutorial conflicts of interest, generally18
	C. A prima facie showing was made, and an evidentiary hearing should have been ordered19
	1. The conflict of interest20
	2. VanderGalien was prejudiced by the Dodge County District Attorney's Office's conflict of interest in this matter
III.	VANDERGALIEN MADE SUFFICIENT PRIMA FACIE SHOWINGS IN HIS POST-CONVICTION MOTION TO MERIT EVIDENTIARY HEARINGS

ON BOTH GROUNDS FOR POST-SENTENCING PLEA WITHDRAWAL RAISED25
A. Governing legal principles26
B. Standard of review27
C. The circuit court's rationale for denying an evidentiary hearing under both standards raised is premised upon factually irrelevant conclusions27
CONCLUSION30
CERTIFICATIONS
APPENDIX
CERTIFICATION AS TO APPENDIX
CASES CITED
<i>Hill v. Lockhart</i> , 474 U.S. 52, 106 S. Ct. 366 (1985)27, 30
<i>McCarthy v. United States</i> , 394 U.S. 459, 89 S. Ct. 1166 (1969)27
<i>Nelson v. State</i> , 54 Wis. 2d 489, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972)17
<i>OLR v. Humphrey</i> , 2012 WI 32, 339 Wis. 2d 531, 811 N.W.2d 36316
State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986)26, 27
State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996)17, 27, 30
<b>State v. Britton</b> , 157 W. Va. 711, 203 S.E.2d 462 (1974)16
State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100 293 Wis 2d 594 716 N W 2d 906 26 27

State v. Eison, 194 Wis. 160, 533 N.W.2d 738 (1995)16
<i>State v. Hampton</i> , 2004 WI 107, 274 Wis. 2d 379, 683 N.W.2d 1426
State v. Hoppe, 2009 WI 41, 317 Wis. 2d 161, 661 N.W.2d 40726, 27
State v. Howell, 2007 WI 75, 301 Wis. 2d 350, 734 N.W.2d 4826, 27
State v. John Allen, 2004 WI 106, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 43317, 20
State v. Leitner, 2001 WI App 172, 247 Wis. 2d 195, 633 N.W.2d 20720
State v. Luedtke, 2015 WI 42, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 5929, 10, 13, 14
State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979)27
State v. Smet, 2005 WI App 263, 288 Wis.2d 525, 709 N.W.2d 74711
State v. Smith, 198 Wis. 2d 584, 543 N.W.2d 512 (Wis App 1995)16, 19
<b>Strickland v. Washington</b> , 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984)26, 27
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES CITED
Wis. Stat. § 340.01(50m)11, 12
Wis. Stat. § 346.63(2)(a)(3)
Wis. Stat. § 961.01(4m)
Wis. Stat. § 978.045(1r)(bm)(8)

Case 2023AP000458 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-26-2023 Page 6 of 39

#### **OTHER AUTHORITIES CITED**

Bruce A. Green and Rebecca Roiphe,
Rethinking Prosecutors' Conflicts of Interest, 58 B.C. L.
Rev. 463 (2017)
Alan Wayne Jones,
Perspectives in Drug Discovery, 12. Cocaine, TIAFT
Bulletin, Vol. XLIII, Number 2, 201312, 15
Alain G. Verstraete,
Detection Times of Drugs of Abuse in Blood, Urine, and
Oral Fluid, The Drug Monit. Vol. 26, Number 2,
200412, 13

Case 2023AP000458 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-26-2023 Page 7 of 39

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURTOFAPPEALS

#### **DISTRICT IV**

Case No. 2023AP458-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DUSTIN J. VANDERGALIEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR VARIOUS RELIEF WITHOUT A HEARING IN DODGE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT WITH THE HONORABLE MARTIN DE VRIES PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the operating with a detectable amount of restricted controlled substance in blood statute is constitutional when the only relevant foreign substance in the blood is conclusively inactive and non-impairing?

The circuit court answered yes.

Whether VanderGalien met the threshold factual showing to merit an evidentiary hearing as to his prosecutorial conflict of interest claim?

The circuit court answered no.

Whether VanderGalien met the threshold factual showing to merit an evidentiary hearing on his motion for post-sentencing plea withdrawal based upon ineffective assistance of counsel?

The circuit court answered no.

Whether VanderGalien met the threshold factual showing to merit an evidentiary hearing on his claim that his pleas were not entered knowingly, intentionally, and voluntarily?

The circuit court answered no.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not necessary as Defendant-Appellant anticipates that the briefs of the parties will fully meet and discuss the issues on appeal. Publication would be appropriate as the published opinion would establish a new rule of law or modify, clarify, or criticize an existing rule. Wis. Stats. §§ 809.22 and 809.23(1)(a)1.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On Tuesday, July 30, 2019, Dustin J. VanderGalien (hereinafter "VanderGalien") was the driver at fault in a tragic car collision involving two other vehicles. (R. 16, p. 3) The accident left one individual dead, and several others injured. (*Id.*) VanderGalien also suffered serious injuries because of the accident. (*Id.*) On June 1, 2020, a Criminal Complaint and Arrest Warrant were filed, charging VanderGalien with various crimes related to the July 30, 2019 crash. (RR. 2, 3)

The charges stemmed from a test of VanderGalien's blood which was performed at the hospital over three hours after the time of operation—and *after* VanderGalien had already received treatment and medication for his injuries. (R. 41, p. 2) The blood test results provided the following relevant results: .061 g/100mL of ethanol; and 240 ng/mL of the inactive cocaine metabolite, benzoylecgonine (hereinafter, "BE"). (R. 16, p. 2) The complaint charged VanderGalien with 14 counts, resulting in a total exposure of 82 years and 6 months in the Wisconsin State Prison system. (See R.1) On

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> While other substances were detected in VanderGalien's blood, they were not germane to the issues considered by the circuit court or raised on appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The charges in the Criminal Complaint related to the injury or death of seven individuals: Victim G (Counts 1 & 2); Victim B (Counts 3 & 4); Victim A (Counts 5 & 6); Victim R (Counts 7 & 8); Victim D (Counts 9 & 10); Victim K (Counts 11 & 12); and Victim S (Counts 13 & 14). All even numbered counts charged conduct alleging operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated resulting in death, great bodily harm, or injury. All odd numbered counts charged conduct alleging operating a motor vehicle with a restricted controlled substance in the blood resulting in death, great bodily harm, or injury. As an individual cannot be sentenced for both operating while intoxicated and operating with a restricted controlled substance for the exact some conduct, the total amount of

July 2, 2020 an Information was filed mirroring the Criminal Complaint. (See R. 13)

During trial proceedings, VanderGalien represented by Attorney Todd Snow. (R. 6) Instead of assigning an Assistant District Attorney to the case, then-Dodge County District Attorney, Kurt Klomberg, personally served as prosecutor on the case. On September 14, 2020, Attorney Snow filed a motion to dismiss counts 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, and 14 of the Information. (See R. 16) All counts challenged in the motion to dismiss charged offenses alleging that VanderGalien operated a motor vehicle with a detectable amount of restricted controlled substance in his blood. (Id.) The motion argued that charging VanderGalien with said offenses was a violation of his right to substantive due process, based on the fact that the only "restricted controlled substance" found in VanderGalien's blood—BE—is a non-impairing substance. (Id.) On January 29, 2021, the court denied VanderGalien's motion to dismiss after conducting an evidentiary hearing on the matter. (See R. 123)

On April 16, 2021, DA Klomberg filed a Motion for Leave to Amend the Information. (R. 45) On May 12, 2021, the court granted the State's motion, and a First Amended Information was filed. (See R. 122) The First Amended Information charged VanderGalien with a modified variety of offenses which were more serious than those originally pursued by DA Klomberg. (See R. 122) The charges contained in the First Amended Information resulted in VanderGalien facing an increased total exposure of 190 years in the Wisconsin State Prison system.<sup>3</sup> (See R.53) In order to avoid

exposure faced by VanderGalien was 82 years and 6 months Wisconsin State Prison. (See R. 1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The First Amended Information charged VanderGalien with: (Ct. 1) First Degree Reckless Homicide as to Victim G; (Ct. 2) First

trial, a Second Amended Information was eventually filed as part of a plea agreement, charging VanderGalien with a new, modified variety of offenses resulting in a total exposure of 170 years Wisconsin State Prison.<sup>4</sup> (See R. 60)

Ultimately, on June 29, 2021, VanderGalien entered pleas of no-contest to Counts 1, 3, and 13 of the Second Amended Information with counts 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, and 12 dismissed and read-in. (R. 121, p. 18) Count 1 charged Homicide by Vehicle- Use of Controlled Substance, 2+ as to Victim G, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.09(1)(am); Count 3 charged Use of a Vehicle with Controlled Substance in Blood, Causing Great Bodily Harm as to Victim B, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.25(1)(am); and Count 13 charged Operating with a Restricted Controlled Substance in Blood Causing Injury, 2+, as to Victim S, in violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 346.65(3p) & 346.63(2)(a)3. (See R. 60) As part of the plea offer, the State agreed to cap its initial confinement recommendation to no

Degree Reckless Injury, as to Victim B; (Ct. 3) Use of a Vehicle w/ Restricted Controlled Substance in Blood Causing Great Bodily Harm, as to Victim B; (Ct. 4) First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety as to Victim A; (Ct. 5) Operating w/Restricted Controlled Substance in Blood Causing Injury, 2+, as to Victim A; (Ct. 6) First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety, as to Victim R; (Ct. 7) Operating w/ a Restricted Controlled Substance in Blood Causing Injury, 2+, as to Victim R; (Ct. 8) First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety as to Victim D; (Ct. 9) Operating w/Restricted Controlled Substance in Blood causing Injury, 2+, as to Victim D; (Ct. 10) First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety as to Victim K; (Ct. 11) Operating w/Restricted Controlled Substance in Blood Causing Injury, 2+ as to Victim S; and (Ct. 12) First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety as to Victim S; and (Ct. 13) Operating w/Restricted Controlled Substance in Blood Causing Injury, 2+, as to Victim S. (R. 53)

<sup>4</sup> Counts 2-13 of the Second Amended Information mirror counts 2-13 of the First Amended Information. In the Second Amended Information, Count 1 was amended to a charge of Homicide by Vehicle-Use of Controlled Substance, 2+, as to Victim G.

Case 2023AP000458 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-26-2023 Page 12 of 39

more than the maximum term of initial confinement for Counts 1 and 13. (*Id.* at p. 3) The State was free to recommend any length of extended supervision. (*Id.*) Based on his plea to counts 1, 3, and 13, VanderGalien faced a maximum total term of 58 years 6 months Wisconsin State Prison at sentencing, which was to occur on September 15, 2021.

In preparation for sentencing, a PSI was written by the Department of Corrections. (R. 77) There, the Department recommended VanderGalien be sentenced to consecutive terms of 12 years initial confinement and 8 years extended supervision on Count 1; 5 years initial confinement and 5 years extended supervision on Count 3; and 3 years initial confinement with 3 years extended supervision on Count 13. (R. 77, p. 45) A private PSI was also filed with the court, and that writer argued that the Department of Corrections' sentencing recommendation was determined in a manner that was inconsistent with standard DOC policies. (See R. 82) The private PSI writer illustrated a *proper* application of the facts to the DOC sentencing framework in his report, (R. 82, pp. 5-9) and showed that instead, VanderGalien should be sentenced to consecutive sentences of 5-6 years initial confinement with 3-4 years extended supervision on Count 1; 1 year initial confinement with 1-2 years extended supervision on Count 3; and 1 year initial confinement with 1 year extended supervision on Count 13. (R. 82, pp. 11-12)

Approximately one week before sentencing, Attorney Snow became aware of an undisclosed conflict of interest with the Dodge County District Attorney's Office and its prosecution of VanderGalien. (R. 82, p. 4) Although previously unknown to the defendant, DA Klomberg's assistant, Paula Justman, had a close personal relationship with the deceased, Victim G. (*Id.*) Attorney Snow informed the court of this conflict in a September 14, 2021 sentencing

Case 2023AP000458 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-26-2023 Page 13 of 39

memorandum, (*id.*); however, the court and DA Klomberg both failed to address the conflict at the sentencing hearing. (See R. 124) As described in Attorney Snow's memorandum, Ms. Justman's daughter, Payton, dated Victim G prior to his death. (R. 82, p. 4) Ms. Justman made numerous public posts to a Facebook remembrance page for the deceased, and also contributed money to help cover funeral costs. (*Id.*) Moreover, Ms. Justman personally submitted a signed letter to the court prior to sentencing consisting of 4 written pages and 6 color photographs. (R. 81) Payton also submitted a lengthy letter and additional color photographs to the court to be considered at sentencing. (R. 80)

Attorney Snow's memorandum also provided a summary of sentences imposed in Dodge County for similar crimes to which VanderGalien had entered pleas. (See R. 84) There, Attorney Snow illustrated that the range of sentences ordered for these similar offenses included a low end of probation (with a withheld sentence) and conditional jail time, and a high end of up to 7 years initial confinement. (R. 84, p. 2) Snow additionally alleged that, based upon his research, no other defendant in the state of Wisconsin had *ever* been sentenced for an offense alleging: 1). Homicide by Vehicle-Use of Controlled Substance; or 2). Operating a Vehicle with a Restricted Controlled Substance in Blood Causing Great Bodily Harm; or 3). Operating a Vehicle with a Restricted Controlled Substance in Blood Causing Injury, where the only "controlled substance" at issue was BE. (R. 84, p. 2)

Additional Victim Impact Statements were then received before the parties began argument. During the State's presentation, DA Klomberg asked that VanderGalien be sentenced to 25 years initial confinement and 15 years of extended supervision on Count 1; 2 years initial confinement and 5 years extended supervision on Count 3, to be served

Case 2023AP000458 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-26-2023 Page 14 of 39

consecutively to Count 1; and 1 year initial confinement with 3 years extended supervision on Count 13, to be served consecutively to Counts 1 and 3. (R. 124, p. 90) DA Klomberg additionally made numerous representations to the court that by accepting the State's offer, VanderGalien affirmatively admitted that he committed the dismissed but read-in charges. (See R. 124) Attorney Snow challenged Klomberg's representations of the law, (R. 124, p. 24); and the parties argued back and forth about the meaning and effect of read-in charges. (R. 124, pp. 107-10) Ultimately, the court sentenced VanderGalien to 17 years initial confinement and 12 years of extended supervision on Count 1; 3 years initial confinement and 4 years extended supervision on Count 3, consecutive to Count 1; and 1 year 6 months initial confinement and 2 years extended supervision on Count 13, to be served consecutively to Counts 1 and 3. (R. 124, p. 118) The total sentence was 21 years, 6 months initial confinement and 18 years extended supervision. (Id.)

On July 29, 2022, a post-conviction motion for relief was filed in the circuit court. (R. 135) There, VanderGalien argued that: 1). the trial court erroneously denied his pretrial motion to dismiss all operation of a motor vehicle with a detectable amount of restricted controlled substance counts; 2). he was denied his constitutional due process rights when the Dodge County District Attorney's office failed to disclose a disqualifying conflict of interest and request the appointment of a special prosecutor; 3). he was entitled to withdraw his no contest pleas because his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to properly explain the actual meaning and effect of dismissed and read-in charges at sentencing; and 4). that he was entitled to withdraw his no contest pleas because they were not entered knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently. (R. 135)

On October 14, 2022 the State responded and filed a Request to Deny VanderGalien's Post-Conviction Motions Without a Hearing. (R. 147) During the pendency of the post-conviction motion process, DA Klomberg left his position as the lead prosecutor for Dodge County for employment with the Green Lake County District Attorney's Office. However, instead of allowing an assistant district attorney to continue prosecuting the matter or appoint a neutral, disinterred prosecutor, the court merely appointed Klomberg as special prosecutor and allowed him to continue his unethical involvement in the case. (R. 156). Additional briefing occurred, and on February 24, 2023 the Court issued a decision denying all claims in VanderGalien's post-conviction motion without a hearing. (R. 158) This appeal follows.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. INCLUDING BENZOYLECGONINE IN THE **DEFINITION 'RESTRICTED** CONTROLLED **OF FOR PURPOSES** SUBSTANCE' THE **OF** PROSECUTION UNDER THE WISCONSIN VEHICLE CODE HAS NO RATIONAL BASIS UNDER THE LAW AND IS THEREFORE UNCONSITUTIONAL BECAUSE **IMPOSING STRICTLY** LIABLE **CRIMINAL** PENALTIES FOR OPERATING A MOTOR VEHICLE WITH NON-IMPAIRING SUBSTANCES IN BLOOD IS NOT RATIONALLY RELATED TO THE **LEGISLATIVE INTEREST OF COMBATING** DRUGGED DRIVING.

Substantive due process provides protection from certain arbitrary, wrongful government actions. *State v. Luedtke*, 2015 WI 42, ¶74, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 433 (internal citation omitted). It further "forbids a government from exercising power without any reasonable justification in

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