Filed 07-18-2023

Page 1 of 48

FILED 07-18-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2023AP458-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DUSTIN J. VANDERGALIEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE DODGE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARTIN J. DE VRIES, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

"The normal procedure in criminal cases is to address [forfeiture] within the rubric of the ineffective assistance of counsel." *State v. Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 766, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999). And the record shows that VanderGalien could not show that his attorney was deficient for opting to use this information to argue for a lighter sentence instead of seeking plea withdrawal, nor could he establish prejudice.

> a. Defense counsel made a reasonable strategic decision to argue for a lenient sentence based on this alleged conflict of interest rather than seek plea withdrawal.

The standard by which counsel's representation of a criminal defendant must not fall "below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 686, 688 (1984). Courts reviewing counsel's performance "indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance" and that counsel "made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." *Id.* at 689–90. The tactics chosen by defense counsel in pursuing the defendant's objectives need not be the ones that in hindsight look best to a reviewing court or postconviction counsel. *State v. Felton*, 110 Wis. 2d 485, 502, 329 N.W.2d 161 (1983). This high measure of deference means that a court "may not grant relief" unless the record reveals "that counsel took an

approach that no competent lawyer would have chosen." *Dunn v. Reeves*, 141 S. Ct. 2405, 2410 (2021).

Here, the circuit court found that defense counsel made a reasonable strategic decision to use the information that a legal assistant in the DA's office had a personal relationship with one of the victims to argue for leniency at sentencing. (R. 158:7.) The circuit court was correct in that regard. Trial counsel had very little to argue on VanderGalien's behalf. The facts of this case were appalling: VanderGalien was streaking down the highway at 21 miles per hour over the speed limit, in the wrong lane, for over 1600 feet. (R. 124:53.) There were no obstructions in the road, there was nothing wrong with his vehicle, and an eyewitness said she was able to see the oncoming traffic even from well behind VanderGalien. (R. 124:55.) VanderGalien made no attempt to avoid the victims' cars and never even stepped on the brakes before slamming into them. (R. 124:53-55.) He ended one life and irreparably damaged countless others with his pernicious actions. (R. 124:3–49.) He had amphetamine, fentanyl, and metabolites of cocaine in his system, his blood alcohol content was still a .06 even four hours after the crash, and this was his third OWI offense-clearly the repercussions of the previous two weren't sufficient to alter his behavior. (R. 2:15, 17.) Defense counsel therefore reasonably opted to use the fact that a legal assistant in the DA's office knew one of the victims to attempt to paint DA Klomberg as biased and that this case wasn't actually as egregious as he made it sound. (R. 84; 124:93–106.) Defense counsel argued that this was a horrible accident, not recklessness; the blood test didn't show any presumptive impairment; and that VanderGalien was an alcoholic but otherwise a productive citizen who had been seeking treatment and was full of remorse for what happened. (R. 124:93–106.) That was a rational decision.

contrast, had defense counsel sought In plea withdrawal on this basis and it was granted, there was no telling how a subsequent prosecution with a different prosecutor may proceed. All of the dismissed charges would be back on the table along with any other charges a new prosecutor may have found appropriate. The read-in charges alone carried 122 years of sentencing exposure. (R. 53.) The facts of this case were awful, and VanderGalien's plea allowed him to plead to only three of over a dozen charges with an agreement that the State would seek sentencing based only on two of them. (R. 58.) Counsel could reasonably determine that it was in VanderGalien's best interests to leave this plea agreement intact and use this information to try to persuade the court to disregard the State's sentencing recommendation instead. The fact that VanderGalien would now like to change tactics and seek to withdraw his plea based upon this information does not make defense counsel's decision unreasonable.

> b. VanderGalien failed to explain why he would have insisted on going to trial if a special prosecutor handled the case.

VanderGalien additionally could not show prejudice.

First, the circuit court's finding that there was no conflict of interest shows that even if defense counsel had requested that a special prosecutor be appointed based on Ms. Justman's knowing one of the victims, the request would have been denied. (R. 158:5–7.) A defendant is not prejudiced from counsel's failure to make a motion that would have failed. *State v. (Frederick) Jackson*, 229 Wis. 2d 328, 344, 600 N.W.2d 39 (Ct. App. 1999).

Second, VanderGailen failed to show how or why he would have insisted upon a trial had a special prosecutor been appointed. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 312, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996) (citation omitted) ("In order to satisfy the prejudice prong of the *Strickland* test, the defendant seeking to withdraw his or her plea must allege facts to show 'that there is a reasonable probability that, but for the counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial."").

VanderGalien cannot meet this burden. Again, the facts of this case were extremely aggravated and it strains credulity to think VanderGalien could have been in a better position had a special prosecutor taken over the case. The evidence would not have changed. Any and every charge that could be supported by the facts would have been available for the new prosecutor to pursue. There were multiple eyewitnesses who could testify to the events, and the crash reconstruction report meant that a conviction on at least reckless homicide and several reckless injury charges would be highly likely at trial. VanderGalien failed to explain why he rationally would have chosen to reject the plea bargain and move to disqualify the prosecutor in these circumstances. VanderGalien cannot show he'd have insisted upon a trial if a special prosecutor handled the case.

- 2. VanderGalien's "conflict of interest" claim was really a selective prosecution claim, and it was both insufficiently pleaded and fails on the merits under either doctrine.
 - a. VanderGalien failed to show a conflict of interest.

VanderGalien claims that the fact that an employee in the Dodge County DA's office knew the young man VanderGalien killed created "a conflict of interest . . . which ethically required DA Klomberg and the Dodge County District Attorney's Office to recuse itself from prosecuting this matter," and that he made out a prima facie case of prejudicial conflict in his motion simply because he received a high bond, a multitude of serious charges, and a recommendation for a lengthy prison sentence. (VanderGalien's Br. 22–31.) He is wrong.

"[I]n a postconviction setting, the defendant must show by clear and convincing evidence that the attorney had an actual conflict of interest." *State v. Kalk*, 2000 WI App 62, ¶ 16, 234 Wis. 2d 98, 608 N.W.2d 428 (addressing a prosecutorial conflict claim). "An actual conflict of interest exists when the attorney is actively representing a conflicting interest." *Id.* "An actual conflict is not 'a mere possibility or suspicion of a conflict [that] could arise under hypothetical circumstances." *Id.* (citation omitted). "Rather, an actual conflict occurs when an 'attorney's advocacy is somehow adversely affected by the competing loyalties." *Id.* (citation omitted).

Prosecutors are not neutral and have obligations to their client, the State of Wisconsin. They have a conflict of interest in a case only when circumstances exist that would either: (1) tempt the prosecutor to shortchange the interests of *the State* in handling the case, such as when the defendant has a close personal relationship with the prosecutor or a key witness has information that a prosecutor would have conflicting loyalties in presenting⁹; (2) the prosecutor previously represented the defendant and thus had

⁹ See State v. Smith, 198 Wis. 2d 584, 543 N.W.2d 512 (Ct. App. 1995) (prosecutor had a conflict of interest where the key witness against the defendant claimed to have also purchased drugs from the prosecutor's brother); State v. Stehle, 217 Wis. 2d 50, 53, 577 N.W.2d 29 (Ct. App. 1998) (assistant district attorney's alleged conflict of interest where defendant robbed the ADA's exwife's home).

knowledge that could be used against the defendant in the case¹⁰; or (3) an actual conflict exists, meaning the prosecutor's actual advocacy is affected by loyalties owed to others and the defendant makes a prima facie showing that the charging decision was in some way influenced by it or the plea negotiations were distorted because of it.¹¹

VanderGalien failed to provide any facts in his motion that would establish an actual conflict of interest on DA Klomberg's part or any prejudice VanderGalien suffered from it even had such a conflict existed. (R. 137:11-12.) As the circuit court aptly noted, there was no evidence that DA Klomberg or Ms. Justman had any privileged or prejudicial information about VanderGalien that was used against him, nor any reason that DA Klomberg would neglect the State's interests or his duty to seek justice simply because a legal assistant in the DA's office knew one of the victims. (R. 158:6-7.) As elected public officials, District Attorneys—especially those in smaller counties-inevitably deal with victims, and defendants in an infinite variety of witnesses. relationships with varying degrees of proximity. They are not required to disgualify themselves every time they know someone who knows a victim in a criminal case; that would impose an impossible burden upon the District Attorney and the criminal justice system generally.

None of the circumstances showing a prosecutorial conflict are present here. There was no information about VanderGalien to be gleaned from Ms. Justman's relationship to the victim. Indeed, Ms. Justman did not even say anything about VanderGalien in her letter; she merely spoke about the victim's good character. (R. 81.) DA Klomberg did not file charges for nearly a year until the blood test results came

 $^{^{10}}$ State v. Kalk, 2000 WI App 62, $\P\P$ 18–21, 234 Wis. 2d 98, 608 N.W.2d 428.

¹¹ Smith, 198 Wis. 2d at 591.

back, and he did not move to amend them until the Wisconsin State Patrol's crash reconstruction report returned showing there was nothing wrong with VanderGalien's car, that he never applied the brakes, and that he was traveling at 76 miles per hour with the car fully in the wrong lane for at least 14 seconds. (R. 2; 45; 122:5–6.) In other words, the charging decisions were plainly based on the evidence received as the investigation unfolded and DA Klomberg's legal research on whether certain charges were supported by the evidence. (R. 122:4–7.) VanderGalien failed to provide any facts in his motion to even suggest that these decisions were made based on improper animus or some improper influence. (R. 137:11– 12.) And VanderGalien received an extremely beneficial plea offer—his sentencing exposure was reduced by over 100 years from what he was facing on the amended charges, the State agreed to cap its sentencing recommendation to the maximum allowable on only two of the three charges to which he was pleading, and 10 charges were dismissed and read in. (R. 53; 121:9.) The notion that VanderGalien's receiving a lenient plea offer could somehow show that loyalty to an employee caused the DA to be biased against him defies logic.

To be sure, DA Klomberg asked the court to impose the sentence for the two charges to which maximum VanderGalien pled no contest, but the facts of this case were heinous. The crash resulted in pure carnage altering dozens of lives, it was entirely VanderGalien's fault, and this was VanderGalien's third OWI offense. (R. 2; 90; 91; 92; 93; 124:3-49.) Though prosecutors have an ethical obligation to seek justice, that does not entitle a defendant to the most lenient treatment conceivable under the law. The prosecutor has a duty to the public to hold people accountable for the harm they cause and to do what is best for public safety; that is part of the calculation of what it means to do justice. Here, that clearly meant a substantial prison sentence. The mere fact that a legal assistant in the Dodge County District Attorney's Office had a personal relationship with one of the victims in this case did not create a disqualifying conflict for DA Klomberg, and VanderGalien failed to plead any facts in his motion that would show otherwise or that any of the DA's decisions in this case were affected by Ms. Justman's knowing the victim in any way.

VanderGalien fails to cite a single case—from any jurisdiction—holding that a legal assistant's friendship with a victim in a criminal case ethically conflicts the District Attorney personally out of the case. (VanderGalien's Br. 24– 31.) VanderGalien's entire support for this proposition is a single, six-year-old law review article that advocates for group decision making in prosecutor's offices to avoid "distort[ed] judgment" based on implicit biases and professional ambition. (VanderGalien's Br. 24-31); Bruce A. Green and Rebecca Roiphe, Rethinking Prosecutors' Conflicts of Interest, 58 B.C. L. Rev. 463, 535 (2017).) The article itself acknowledges that it is a broad critique of prosecutorial discretion generally that is based on social science and not the law. Id. at 479-84. It hardly establishes that such a tangential, second-order relationship between the District Attorney and a victim in a criminal case such as the one that existed here creates a disqualifying conflict of interest for the DA. At any rate, VanderGalien did not provide this off-point article to the circuit court, so it cannot be a basis for reversal. (R. 137); See Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 27.

VanderGalien otherwise simply points to the bare fact that Wis. Stat. § 978.045(1r)(bm)8. *permits* a District Attorney to seek a special prosecutor if he or she "determines that a conflict of interest exists regarding the district attorney or the district attorney staff." (VanderGalien's Br. 25.) But he has not established that an employee in the District Attorney's Office simply knowing a victim *is* a conflict of interest for the prosecutor, let alone an inherently prejudicial one that *requires* disqualification of the DA, personally. Moreover, subsection (1r) of the statute is permissive only, and it allows a District Attorney to seek a special prosecutor if, in his or her independent evaluation of the circumstances, he or she finds there is a conflict of interest. Wis. Stat. § 978.045(1r)(bm)8. Its purpose is to control the Department of Administration's expenditures, not to mandate recusals on the part of District Attorneys. *State v. Bollig*, 222 Wis. 2d 558, 571, 587 N.W.2d 908 (Ct. App. 1998). DA Klomberg determined that there was no conflict requiring a special prosecutor and thus did not ask for one. The statute is simply irrelevant here.

The circuit court properly found that VanderGalien did not make a prima facie showing of an actual conflict of interest in his postconviction motion nor provide any facts showing prejudice, and it therefore properly denied this claim.

b. VanderGalien is actually raising a selective prosecution claim, and it also fails.

What VanderGalien actually appears to be arguing is a selective prosecution claim, not a conflict of interest claim.¹² And he could not prevail on it, either.

"A prosecutor has great discretion in deciding whether to prosecute in a particular case." *State v. Kramer*, 2001 WI 132, ¶ 14, 248 Wis. 2d 1009, 637 N.W.2d 35. This "necessarily involves a degree of selectivity," therefore "a prosecutor's conscious exercise of some selectivity in enforcement does not in itself create a constitutional violation." *Id.* "A violation of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution will occur, however, when a defendant can show 'persistent

 $^{^{12}}$ After finding that there was no conflict, the circuit court viewed this as a prosecutorial vindictiveness claim and correctly found that VanderGalien could not prevail under that doctrine because he was not retaliated against for asserting a legal right. (R. 158:5–7.)

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